# $FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}$

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 17 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RALPH KERMIT ELLIS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,813

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Procedural Progress of the Case

On June 15, 1989, a Duval County Grand Jury returned three separate indictments charging Ralph Kermit Ellis with the following: the first degree murder of Willie James Evans, allegedly occurring on March 20th or 21st of 1978; the first degree murder of Howard Mincey, allegedly occurring on March 24th or 25th of 1978; and the attempted murder of Allen Reddick, allegedly occurring on July 7, 1978 (R 40-44). Ellis pleaded not guilty to all three indictments. The state moved to consolidate the three indictments for trial, and the court granted the motion over Ellis' objections (R 85, TR 236-274). The jury found Ellis guilty as charged on all three counts on December 8, 1989 (R 208-210). The penalty phase was conducted on December 15, 1989, and after hearing additional evidence, the jury recommended death sentences for both murders (R 217-218, TR 1670-1792). The trial judge, Michael R. Weatherby, adjudged Ellis guilty of two counts of first-degree murder and one count of attempted murder on March 20, 1990 (R 224-277). The court sentenced Ellis to death for the two murders (R 226-241, 244-259). For the attempted murder, the court sentenced Ellis to 30 years imprisonment (R 262-261). In support of the death sentences, the court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) Ellis was previously convicted of another capital felony or felony involving violence based upon the contemporaneous convictions for the murders and the attempted murder; (2) the homicides were committed while Ellis was

engaged in the commission of a robbery and kidnapping; (3) the homicides were committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner; (4) the homicide was cold, calculated, and premeditated (R 236-238). In mitigation, the court found one statutory mitigating circumstance that Ellis had no significant history of prior criminal activity (R 238-239). The court specifically rejected the other statutory mitigating circumstances (R 238-240). The sentencing order did not discuss the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances (R 238-240).

Ellis filed his notice of appeal to this court on March 30, 1990 (R 283).

## Facts -- The Prosecution's Case

On March 21, 1978, Durell Crews was driving to work some time after 7:00 a.m. along Plummer Road (TR 694-696). Plummer Road is a rough, paved road which ends at the Duval County line on the north side of Jacksonville where it becomes a dirt road into Nassau County (TR 696, 702). As Crews and his brother drove their truck toward the dirt section of the road, they observed a black male lying in the ditch (TR 697). Crews backed up and looked at the body without getting out of his truck (TR 697). He backed up to a Mr. Mobley's house where he telephoned the sheriff's department (TR 697-698). Crews and his brother returned to the scene where the body was located and waited for a police officer (TR 698-700). Officer Malcom Adams of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office responded to the scene at the 9100 block of Plummer Road (TR 704-705). He saw

the body of a black male in the ditch (TR 705). The body was fully clothed and there was a area of blood around the body (TR 705, 708). Adams observed a large wound on the top of the victim's head (TR 708). Later, Charles Albertie identified the body as that of his brother-in-law, Willie Evans (TR 747-748). Albertie testified that Evans lived on Richardson Road in Jacksonville and was 18 years old at the time of his death. He believed that Evans attended Paxon High School (TR 750-751).

Doctor Bonifacio Floro, medical examiner for Duval County, examined the body at the scene (TR 1151-1158). He performed an autopsy around 10:30 a.m. (TR 1163). The examination revealed several injuries (TR 1165). There were lacerations to the forehead and three circle-shaped wounds near the hair line which were very close to one another (TR 1165). Near the outside of the eyebrow, on each side of the face, were lacerations (TR 1165). There was a stab wound to the left side of the neck, which damaged the jugular vein (TR 1165-1166). A superficial incised wound across the neck was also present (TR 1166). The medical examiner found a single stab wound to the inside and back of the side of the chest which damaged the right lung (TR 1166). To the left back he found two stab wounds, one on top of the other, which damaged the left lung (TR 1166). In the lower back, there was a stab wound going into the liver causing hemorrhaging (TR 1166). Floro found no drugs or alcohol in the victim's system (TR 1167). Since he found a great deal of hemorrhaging inside the neck, Floro concluded that Evans was alive when stabbed (TR 1178-1179).

Floro concluded that cause of death was caused by multiple blunt injuries to the head and multiple stab wounds to the neck and chest (TR 1180).

On March 24, 1978, Lonzo Friendly, Jr., was driving down Imeson Road around 11:30 p.m. (TR 724-727). Imeson Road was a dirt road with some houses and farms (TR 726). As he drove around a curve, he and his girlfriend saw the body of a black man lying on the right hand side of the road (TR 727). Friendly stated that they did not get out of the car but drove down to the nearest house and had someone call the police (TR 727-728). He testified that it took about five minutes to find the house and a few more minutes to call the police (TR 728-729).

Officer Daniel Brown of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office arrived on the scene at approximately 12:30 a.m. on March 25, 1978 (TR 734-736). He observed the body lying in the roadway in an isolated area (TR 736). A large pool of blood, which had not yet completely coagulated, was around the body (TR 737). Brown secured the scene and waited for homicide detectives (TR 738-740). Later, Carl Sparks identified the victim as Howard Mincey, his sister's husband (TR 846-849). Mincey in his thirties at the time of his death (TR 849-850).

Dr. Floro performed an autopsy on Howard Mincey at approximately 10:00 a.m. on March 25, 1978 (TR 1181). He suffered multiple impacts to the head and there was a large wound to the front of his head (TR 1181). There were lacerations on the right forehead, on the right side of the head, the back of the left side of the head, all without any injury to the underlying bone structure (TR 1182). A slash wound went from side to side on the neck, severing the trachea along with major blood vessels in the neck and the muscles of the neck (TR 1182-1183). There was no injury to the chest or abdomen or any of the extremities (TR 1183). Mincey had a blood alcohol level of .30 at the time of his death (TR 1183). Floro concluded that Mincey died as a result of the incised wound to the neck and the resulting massive hemorrhaging (TR 1202). Floro concluded that the .30 blood alcohol level meant that Mincey was intoxicated at the time of the homicide (TR 1208-1209). Floro concluded there was nothing unusual about the kinds of wounds that Evans and Mincey suffered (TR 1209-1210).

On July 7, 1978, Allen Lamont Reddick left his home on Patterson Street and walked to a lounge called Poncho's located on US-1 (TR 760-761). Reddick was 20 years old at the time and worked as a dishwasher (TR 760). Reddick had to cross the street near a Banner Food Store (TR 761-762). He saw two white males in a dark green pickup truck parked in the parking lot of the food store (TR 761-762). Reddick said the truck was a four-wheel drive, had big tires on it and white rims (TR 762). The truck looked new (TR 762). The driver of the truck called Reddick to the truck (TR 762). He asked Reddick if he knew where they could find marijuana and Reddick said that he did (TR 763). Reddick walked to the passenger's side of the truck and got inside to take them to obtain marijuana (TR 763). He also intended to smoke marijuana with them (TR 763).

passenger of the truck got out and allowed Reddick to enter the truck to sit in the middle position on the seat (TR 763). driver said he needed to go by his Uncle's house to get some money, and they proceeded down Moncrief Road (TR 764). At one point, Reddick looked over to his right side and saw that the passenger had a knife in his hand (TR 764). The passenger shoved Reddick's head back, told him to shut up, and tried to cut his throat (TR 764). Reddick grabbed the knife with his left hand and began tussling with the passenger (TR 764). passenger began to stab Reddick with the knife (TR 765). Reddick was stabbed in the temple, the back of his neck, and the tussling continued (TR 765). Reddick was finally able to grab the passenger's arm and ram the knife toward the driver, sticking it into the upper part of the driver's right arm (TR 765). The driver yelled to the passenger to "let him go because he stabbed me." The driver also said, "He's going to kill his damn self anyway so let him go." (TR 765). The driver continued to drive slowly during the tussle between Reddick and the passenger (TR 765-766). After Reddick managed to pull the knife over to stab the driver in the arm, Reddick began to pull himself out of the passenger side window of the truck (TR 766). The passenger stabbed Reddick three or four more times in the knees as he was getting out of the cab of the truck (TR 766-767). Reddick said he felt the speed of the truck pick up, and knew that the only way he could save himself was to flip off the truck (TR 767). He said he flipped backwards out of the truck and hit the pavement on the road (TR 767). He got up

and began walking, although he was afraid they would turn around and come back to get him (TR 767). The truck never turned around (TR 767). Reddick managed to get out of the truck on top of the 295 overpass (TR 767). An ambulance arrived at the scene and took him to the hospital (TR 767). Reddick testified that he remained at University Hospital for five days (TR 767-768). He said the passenger had the knife during the incident and the driver did most of the talking (TR 770-771). Reddick described the passenger as a slender white male with blond hair (TR 771). He described the driver as the huskier of the two with dark hair and a facial beard (TR 771-772). On cross-examination, Reddick stated that he recalled being interviewed by Detective Fran Japour on July 11, 1978 (TR 778). He said he did not remember what description of the driver and passenger he gave at that time (TR 779-780). He did recall stating that the passenger was not wearing a shirt (TR 781-782). He stated that the passenger appeared to be about 5'7", and the driver appeared to be about 25-years-old (TR 782-783).

Reddick denied that Detective Meyer attempted to influence him concerning his testimony (TR 786). He denied that Meyer tried to show him pictures of homicide victims in this case to influence his testimony (TR 789). However, in a deposition taken on October 5, 1979, Reddick recalled being shown photographs of the victims and Meyers saying that he felt the guys should pay what they have done (TR 790-791). Reddick also said he had a dog with him that night and that he put the dog

in the back of the truck before he got into the truck (TR 791-792).

Clyde Crawley testified that he observed the truck and the struggle Reddick was involved in on July 7, 1978 (TR 852-854, 856-859). He saw a pickup truck parked at the Banner Food Store located at the intersection of Moncrief and US-1 (TR 854). The truck caught his attention because he sold new and used trucks at Duval County Motors (TR 853-855). The truck was a nice looking and a fairly new model (TR 854, 860-861). The truck was dark colored with silver and had a chrome bumper (TR 873-874). It also had a whip antenna and a sliding glass door on the back window (TR 859-860). He identified it as a fourwheel drive truck because he could see the distinctive hubs on the front wheels (TR 860-861). The truck had a roll bar and KC lights on the top (TR 860). He also remembered about six decals on the bumper of the truck (TR 872). Although the truck was nice looking, Crawley said it was not an unusual truck (TR 879-880- When Crawley passed the parked truck a black man was standing outside talking to the two white male occupants of the truck (TR 855-856). A short time later, as he was driving down Old Kings Road, Crawley saw the same truck (TR 856). At that time, he noticed a struggle going on inside the cab of the truck (TR 857). The man in the middle passenger position of the truck was trying to protect himself, and the person on the passenger side appeared to be slapping at him (TR 857). passenger in the middle was black (TR 857). The driver and the other passenger were white (TR 857). Carl noticed that the

black man was attempting to climb out of the truck (TR 858). He was able to do so and hit the ground (TR 859). Crawley and his wife stopped and rendered assistance to the black man (TR 859). He described the driver as a husky man wearing either a beard or long side burns on the side of his face (TR 861-862). Crawley described the passenger as slimmer (TR 862).

Officer Elliot Van Dyke responded to an injured person call at 10:30 p.m at the 8000 block of Old Kings Road (TR 830-832) He arrived around 8:00 a.m. (TR 841). He found Reddick injured at the scene (TR 842). Reddick described the suspects as follows: the driver as a white male, heavy built, black hair with a mustache and a red shirt. The second suspect, the passenger, as a white male, blond hair and wearing no shirt (TR 844-845).

Dr. Marshall Horowitz was chief of orthopedic surgery at University Hospital in July of 1978 (TR 887-890). He testified that his staff treated Allen Reddick during the week of July 7th to July 14th of 1978. (TR 890-892). Based on records, he was able to testify about the treatment (TR 892-891). Reddick had friction burns to his right forearm and his right elbow and left hand, as well as his cheek and forehead (TR 892-893). He also had stab wounds to the left knee, which penetrated the left knee (TR 894). Three stab wounds were located to the inner aspect of the left knee (TR 894). These wounds required surgery (TR 895). There were no wounds to the buttocks or the back of the thighs (TR 897).

Cecil Phillips attended Paxon Senior High School with Ralph Ellis in 1977 and 1978 (TR 904-907). He said that Ralph was average height, stockily built, dark colored hair, which he wore collar length with noticeable sideburns (TR 907-908). Phillips testified that on three different occasions Ralph Ellis told him about attacking three different black men (TR 908-927). These statements allegedly occurred in 1978 around the time of the attacks. However, Phillips did not contact law enforcement with this information for eleven years (TR 930-931). He contacted the FBI with the information in February or March of 1989 (TR 930).

Phillips testified about a conversation he had with Ralph at Ralph's house in 1978 (TR 908). He said Ralph was outside washing blood off the side of his truck (TR 908-909). truck was an older model Ford truck painted with gray primer The blood was sprayed on the side of the truck, and Ralph was using a rag and mineral spirits to clean it off (TR 909-910). Ralph told Phillips that he and Johnny Boehm had killed a black man and that was blood was on his truck (TR 910). Ellis allegedly said it was an older black male whom he did not know (TR 910). Ellis said that he and Johnny picked up the man on the pretense of smoking marijuana with him (TR 910). Ellis said he was driving his truck, the one he was then cleaning (TR 911). Ellis stated that the had the man ride between him and Johnny in the cab of the truck (TR 911). Ellis said they rode out on the west side of town with the intentions of beating him up (TR 911). While riding, Johnny pulled a

knife and put it to the man throat (TR 911). Ellis allegedly said that they had the man put his hands on the dash of the truck and, while riding, Johnny said they were not be able to let him go; they would have to kill him (TR 911). They stopped the truck on the west side of town (TR 911-912). Ellis said he got out of the truck, reached into the bed of the truck and pulled out a tire checker (TR 911). Phillips described a tire checker as a piece of wood about 18 inches long with a metal tip about an inch to an inch and a half in diameter used for checking inflation of truck tires (TR 914). Ralph said he hit the man, Johnny then grabbed him and started stabbing him, and the man tried to run (TR 911). They chased him down and hit him some more (TR 912). Ellis said the incident happened off Imeson Road (TR 913). Phillips said that later in the day, he heard over the radio about a man's body being found on Imeson Road (TR 913). Phillips admitted he did nothing about this information (TR 913). Phillips said that Ellis acted very excited, kind of giddy, when he told about the incident (TR 920-921). Phillips said no one else was present when Ralph told him about this murder (TR 921).

On another occasion, Phillips testified that Ellis told him about a second murder of a black male (TR 921). This homicide, according to Phillips, occurred after the first one Ellis allegedly told him about on Imeson Road (TR 921-961). According to Phillips, Ellis said this homicide occurred much like the first one (TR 922). They picked up a younger black male on the pretense of smoking marijuana (TR 921-922). Johnny

pulled a knife, put it to the man's throat, and they killed him in the same manner as the first one (TR 922). Ellis allegedly said that he knew this victim from school (TR 922). They were again in Ralph's truck (TR 922). Phillips said that Ralph showed him a wallet that he took from the victim (TR 922-923). It contained four photographs in a column of a young black male wearing a striped shirt (TR 923). Ellis said he took the wallet from the victim (TR 923). Phillips said that he believed Ellis when he told him, however, he did not pass the information on to anyone (TR 924).

Finally, Phillips testified about a third incident Ellis allegedly told him about in July of 1978 (TR 925). Ellis told Phillips that he and Johnny Boehm were near US-1 where they picked up a black man (TR 925). They had him ride in the middle seat position of the truck (TR 925). Johnny pulled a knife, put it to the man's throat, and the man began fighting in the cab of the truck (TR 925). During the fight, Johnny stabbed the man in the temple (TR 925). Ralph said he was beating the man while Johnny was cutting him (TR 925). At one point, Ralph said Johnny missed and cut Ralph's arm (TR 925). The man climbed out the window of the truck with his legs pinned inside (TR 925-926). Johnny was stabbing him the legs and dragging the knife (TR 926). They turned the man loose and he tumbled off the truck onto the road (TR 926). Ellis said he did not know whether the victim lived or died (TR 926). said this man was more muscular then the other two (TR 926). Ellis said they got him into the truck under the pretense of

using marijuana (TR 926). Ellis said he obtained medical treatment for the cut on his arm, using the excuse that it was cut on a glass door or window (TR 926-927).

Randy Lawrence Mallaly also knew Ralph Ellis in high school (TR 1026-1027). Ralph was short, stockily built, had hair just over his ears, and generally wore a beard and facial hair (TR 1028). Mallaly also knew Johnny Boehm, primarily through his relationship with Ralph (TR 1028-1029). Boehm was taller then Ralph, slim built, wore his blonde hair short and was light-complexted (TR 1029). Boehm did not have facial hair (TR 1029). Over defense objections, Mallaly testified about an incident where Ellis and Boehm threatened to kill a black man (TR 1029-1030). According to Mallaly, this occurred sometime in 1978 (TR 1030). He was with Ralph and Johnny at Ralph's house and the three went off for the evening (TR 1030). parked in a big parking lot near a bar (TR 1030). Mallaly asked Ralph where they were going and Ralph allegedly said, "We're going to kill a nigger." Mallaly said he didn't take Ralph seriously until later when he stopped the truck and pulled a sawed-off shotgun out from underneath the seat (TR 1030-1031). Ralph handed the gun to Johnny and basically asked if Mallaly wanted to be a part of it (TR 1031). Mallaly said he did not, but he still did not take Ralph seriously (TR 1031). Mallaly said there was a black man in the parking lot at the location where Ralph pulled the gun from underneath the truck seat (TR 1031). Mallaly had Ralph take him back to Ralph's house to get his car, but Mallaly spent the evening

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