IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 2 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT, By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ΓE

SID J. WHITE

RALPH KERMIT ELLIS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,813

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

This issue is dependent upon the facts as stated in argument five.

Facts: Arguments XII, XIII, XIV No factual development is required.

- 7 -

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant offers fourteen (14) points on appeal, none of which warrant relief.

Mr. Ellis' crimes were properly consolidated for trial and, as noted by the court, if not consolidated would still have resulted in the same evidence going before the (juries).

Mr. Ellis' remaining issues are either unpreserved, or challenges to reasonable exercises of judicial discretion, or not supported by law. In addition, Ellis has failed to show that any alleged error was prejudicial to his case.

Mr. Ellis was properly convicted and sentenced to death.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR OR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN CONSOLIDATING THE THREE CRIMES AT BAR FOR TRIAL

Once again, Mr. Ellis opens his appeal with the claim that the trial court erred in consolidating the three crimes at bar for trial. We note that Mr. Ellis, despite having the benefit of the State's Answer Brief, still confines his arguments to the question of factual error by the lower court without any discussion of "abuse of discretion", or "harmless error" or the impact of the <u>Williams</u> Rule.<sup>1</sup> Indeed, conspicuously absent from Mr. Ellis' brief is the one case which appears to control this appeal; <u>Crossley v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1992). The State will, again, address the full scope of the issue.

#### (A) Standard of Review

In reviewing a claim of improper consolidation two factors control the court's review function. First, the standard of review for assessing the trial judge's decision is not simply "error". Rather, it is "abuse of discretion". Second, if an abuse is found, the next step is to perform a harmless error analysis as required by §§59.041, and 924.33, Florida Statutes.

The concept of "abuse of discretion" is distinct from that of mere "error". As noted in <u>Canakeris v. Canakeris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), an "abuse of discretion" is an arbitrary, unreasonable or fanciful judgment with which no reasonable person

- 9 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

could agree. This definition was refined in <u>Walter v. Walter</u>, 464 So.2d 538, 539 (Fla. 1985), as follows:

> The correction of an erroneous application of law and the determination that the trial court abused its discretion are two separate functions. An erroneous application of a rule of law is illustrated by a trial court order requiring payment of support for a child who has reached majority and is not dependent by reason of unusual circumstances. (citation). An example of an appellate court's proper determination, upon known facts, that the trial court abused its discretion is found in the oft-cited decision of <u>Brown v. Brown</u>, 300 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). . .

> This Court has repeatedly stated that appellate courts, in examining the discretionary acts of trial courts, must not reweigh the facts.

It is undisputed that the standard of review is the "abuse of discretion standard." <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1990); <u>Crossley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 596 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1992). It is also true that many of the district court decisions relied upon by Mr. Ellis failed to utilize that standard.

Simple "legal error" was used in <u>Wallis v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 808 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); <u>Cannady v. State</u>, 557 So.2d 225 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990); <u>Hoxter v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 785 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>McMullen v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 479 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 439 So.2d 1014 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Paul v.</u> <u>State</u>, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). Indeed, in some of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Brown</u> involved a lower court order which provided for only temporary, rehabilitative, alimony for a wife who had not worked for 18 years because she had once been a registered nurse and real estate agent.

these cases, subsequent review did not include the appropriate standard but rather just a "legal error" discussion. <u>Paul v.</u> <u>State</u>, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Williams</u>, 453 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984).

The caselaw was further confused by the use of a "per se error" standard by some panels of the lower courts. <u>Macklin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 395 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), and refusal to consider the correct standard in <u>Hoxter</u>, <u>supra</u>.

"Abuse of discretion", of course, does not end the inquiry. Judicial error of this kind is still subject to "harmless error" review. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Crossley</u>, <u>supra</u>. Harmless error can be shown either by showing a lack of actual prejudice to the defendant, <u>see McDonald v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (jury not influenced by improperly consolidated arson charge since the defendant was acquitted), or where the same evidence would <u>still</u> have come in under the "<u>Williams</u> Rule". <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Crossley</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Spivey v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Again, in many of the cases cited by Mr. Ellis the courts ignored harmless error, ignored the <u>Williams</u> Rule, and employed incorrect standards (including "<u>per se</u>" reversible error), without regard to precedents of this Court. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) ("presumed prejudice"); <u>Macklin</u>, supra (per se error).

This case provides this Court with a clear opportunity to place all of the courts "on the same page" in their review of these cases. The correct standard of review is "abuse of

- 11 -

discretion". The appellant must establish an entitlement to relief by showing arbitrary and capricious misconduct by the trial court. Mere "legal" error or a difference of opinion regarding the weight or interpretation of evidence will not suffice.

If an abuse of discretion is shown, then the State must be allowed to establish harmless error as mandated by statute. To the extent that any prior caselaw deviates from the standard of review established by law, it is wrong.

### (B) Abuse of Discretion

Mr. Ellis, despite having the State's previous brief on "abuse", continues to ignore the legal standard of review in favor of a "legal error" argument. The reason for this tactical choice is clear. Mr. Ellis cannot establish fanciful or arbitrary conduct.

Naturally, it is undisputed that the record shows careful consideration of the consolidation issue before trial (when the court took time to study the caselaw and records before entering its decision) and in the trial court's post-trial discussion of the issue. Whether one agrees with the trial court is irrelevant. The issue on appeal is the qualify of the court's conduct and whether its decision - right or wrong - could reasonably have been obtained. We reject the notion that an error by the trial court is <u>per se</u> "unreasonable", for such a standard would abolish the "abuse of discretion" test.

The trial court was confronted with two issues:

- 12 -

(1) Admit evidence of all three crimes under the <u>Williams Rule</u>, or

(2) consolidated the three cases for trial.

The only practical difference between the two approaches was the way in which the jury (or juries) would receive the same evidence. In fact, using the "<u>Williams</u> Rule" approach, Mr. Ellis would arguably have had the additional disadvantage of "prior convictions" going to the jury (after the first trial) as opposed to "prior accusations".

When the trial court arrived at its decision it noted the prospect of the <u>Williams</u> Rule letting the same evidence enter the case(s) anyway. The court's decision was not based on <u>Williams</u> alone, but rather was based upon the factors recognized in this Court's decisions from <u>Paul</u>, <u>supra</u> to <u>Crossley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

## (i) Geographic Proximity

Mr. Ellis may debate precise distances in blocks or feet, but the geographic proximity of these crimes is patently obvious:

(a) All the victims were abducted along a small stretch of US-1.

(b) All victims were stabbed in the defendant's truck.

(c) The two murder victims were transported to the north side of town and dumped on the side of the road.

Ellis ignores the abduction and stabbing elements of the crimes and focuses on where the bodies were found. True, the bodies were not dumped in the exact same location, but such conduct on Ellis' part would have been foolish, especially after the first body was found and police began searching the area. The finding of geographic proximity, whether agreed with or not, is at least a reasonable conclusion in light of the decision in <u>Spivey v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). In <u>Spivey</u>, the court found "geographic proximity" in two cases which were no closer than "northern Gainesville".

## (ii) Modus Operandi ("M.O.")

The defendant's "M.O." is relevant in consolidation cases and was starkly relevant here. Each of Ellis' victims were picked up in the same area. In each case they were tricked into going with Ellis on the pretext of buying "pot". In each case, the victim was seated between Ellis and Boehm. All of the victims were attacked in the same manner and the dead victims were left on the north side of town. These three crimes were not simply three random events involving the same defendant.

The similarities in "M.O." were relied upon by the courts in <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>, and in <u>Shupe v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 780 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); <u>Snyder v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 193 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); <u>Meadows v. State</u>, 534 So.2d 1233 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

If the court "erred" in ordering consolidation because the crimes were "merely similar", <u>see State v. Williams</u>, 453 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984), such an error cannot be classified as an "abuse of discretion" when the fine shade of difference between "merely similar" and "<u>modus operandi</u>" is considered. This case clearly leans toward the "M.O." side of the scale.

## (iii) Temporal Proximity

Two of the crimes at bar took place approximately four days apart in March of 1978. The third attack took place on July 7, 1978. We submit that in reviewing the temporal proximity issue the Court must look at the entire trilogy, in context, rather than mere ticks of a clock or dates on a calendar.<sup>3</sup>

Willie Evans was abducted by trick from a parking lot along US-1, and later killed, on March 20-21, 1978. The victim's body was found on March 21, 1978. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Mincey was abducted from the same area on US-1 and murdered. His body was found on March 24, 1978.

It would not be unreasonable for Ellis and Boehm to lay low for awhile to avoid being identified or having the truck identified. In July, when Mr. Reddick was attacked, Ellis used a new truck even though he abducted Reddick from the same area. Mr. Ellis was questioned by the police in November, 1978 (TR 152), and was aware of his status as a suspect. No other killings or attacks were attributed to Ellis. These three crimes did not occur all in one night, but it is clear that the temporal proximity (or lack thereof) is a factor dictated by the other record events.

#### (iv) Nature of Crimes

Bundy, supra, cites the nature of the crimes as the fourth factor to be considered. These crimes were not random attacks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Of course, on appeal, all facts and all inferences from the facts must be taken in favor of the lower court's decision. <u>Shapiro v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1980).

upon three people for different motives. These crimes were an attack upon the African-American population of Duval County. Ellis himself expressed the motive in two words: "kill niggers". These crimes were pure and simple hate crimes whose commonality cannot be dispatched. This is in stark contrast to State v. Williams, 453 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984) (random thefts and burglaries) or even the sexual assaults of Wallis v. State, 548 So.2d 808 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). Those crimes were similar, or had similar victims, but were based upon the defendant's "needs" or "urges" of the moment. Ellis, on the other hand, was selectively exterminating African-Americans because of racial bias. In a sense there was one victim: race.

Mr. Ellis, for obvious reasons, may dispute these findings but he cannot dispute the fact that the court's findings were at least grounded upon some caselaw and "arguable" facts. Thus, the court's decision clearly was not "arbitrary" or made in callous disregard for the law.

#### (C) Harmless Error

Even if the trial judge erred, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

The three crimes at bar would have been presented to all three putative juries, had Ellis received three trials, under Florida's <u>Williams</u> Rule. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

As often noted, <u>Williams</u> creates a rule of admission, not exclusion, and allows juries to hear evidence of other crimes

- 16 -

when said evidence establishes identity, motive, <u>modus operandi</u>, lack of mistake or a common scheme. The applicability of the <u>Williams</u> Rules to consolidation cases is an established fact. <u>Bundy</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Crossley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The crimes at bar reflect a common <u>modus</u> <u>operandi</u> and a common plan or scheme. They also reflect "lack of mistake" should Ellis allege "self defense", or intoxication or some other intent-based defense as to any one attack.

The record in this case supports the consolidation decision by the trial court. Even if, however, the court erred in its interpretation of the (conflicting) caselaw, it is painfully obvious that no abuse of discretion was involved (a mere legal error is not "abuse"), and that any error was harmless.

#### POINT II

## THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CALLING FEAGLE AS A COURT WITNESS

The Appellant, citing <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1986), and <u>Brumbly v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1984), contends that the trial court erred in calling Mr. Feagle as a court witness because:

(1) Feagle was not an eyewitness to the crimes, and

(2) Feagle's testimony did not hurt the State.

Mr. Ellis argument neglects to mention the standard of review and is otherwise limited in scope. Prior to answering his

- 17 -

argument, the State would place this argument in its proper perspective.<sup>4</sup>

## (A) Standard of Review

The decision to call a witness as a court witness is a discretionary decision whether made pursuant to §90.608 or §90.801, Florida Statutes. <u>Austin v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Wasko v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1987). Thus, appellate review should be conducted under the abuse of discertion standard (discussed above), rather than any reweighing of any evidence.

The decision of the trial court, of course, must also be affirmed even if the judge reached a correct result "for the wrong reason." <u>Savage v. State</u>, 156 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963).

Finally, even if the court erred, any error must be examined under the "harmless error" standard of <u>DiGuilio</u>.<sup>5</sup>

## (B) §90.608, Florida Statutes

Mr. Ellis' argument under §90.608, Fla.Stat., is his strongest and is thus provided without elaboration in his brief. As noted above, Mr. Ellis contends that under <u>Jackson</u>, <u>Brumbly</u>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As noted above, Feagle (the co-defendant's stepson), was subpoenaed by the prosecutor and gave a sworn statement on June 22, 1989. (R 119-129). Just three days before trial, Feagle gave a deposition in which he could no longer remember Ellis' confessions. (R 134, et seq.). Feagle also claimed State coercion. (R 143, et seq.). At trial, Feagle was called as a court witness (over defense objections), after extensive argument. (TR 982-996). The jury was not told Feagle was a court witness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

et al., the court erred in calling Mr. Feagle as its witness since he was not an eyewitness and since his testimony was "not harmful".

The legal position taken by Mr. Ellis is only partially disputed. We agree that the court should not call a witness as its own under §90.608, Fla.Stat., if his testimony is not, in fact, damaging to the State.

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